1982

# Wayne Pearce v. Martin J. Wistisen and Richard Oveson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a wrongful death action by Wayne Pearce, the father of the deceased, Evan Pearce, against the defendants Martin J. Wistisen and Richard Oveson, for damages arising from the wrongful death of Evan Pearce during a boating excursion on Utah Lake.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried before the Honorable Allen B. Sorensen with a jury, on the 7th, 8th, 9th, and 10th days of December, 1981. The jury delivered a special verdict on December 10, 1981. (R. at 194.) On December 23, 1981, in accordance with the verdict of the jury, the court ordered that plaintiff recover nothing from defendants, and that defendants recover of plaintiff their costs. (R. at 207.)

Plaintiff filed his motion for a new trial on December 17, 1981. (R. at 206.) The court denied plaintiff's motion for a new trial by its order filed March 26, 1982. (R. at 234.) A notice of appeal was filed on April 15, 1982. (R. at 240.)



## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant requests that this Court reverse the lower court's decision and remand on the issue of damages, or, in the alternative, remand the case for a new trial.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff in this case is the father of the deceased, Evan Pearce. The plaintiff is suing for and on behalf of the heirs of Evan Pearce. Evan Pearce drowned in Utah Lake sometime between 7:00 p.m., June 1, 1979 and 5:00 a.m., June 2, 1979.

At the time of his death Evan Pearce had just graduated from Timpview High School in Provo, Utah. The incidents which led to his untimely death occurred the day after his high school graduation ceremony.

Evan was in excellent health and was in extremely good physical condition at the time of the accident which claimed his life. He was an accomplished tennis player and was at times nationally ranked in his age group. (R. at 490.)

Evan was the oldest of the three children in the Pearce family. He had a very close relationship with his younger brother and sister. (R. at 376.) He competed in doubles tennis with both his younger brother and sister and was an invaluable training partner and assistant for them. (R. at 377.) He and his family traveled extensively in connection with their athletic activities. This resulted in a close and confiding relationship between the deceased and his parents. (R. at 378.)

The incidents which caused Evan's drowning occurred during a boating excursion on Utah Lake. Evan Pearce and Kevin Wistisen,



the minor child of defendant Martin J. Wistisen, formulated plans for the boating trip while returning from a graduation party that had been held in Provo Canyon on June 1, 1979. (R. at 405.)

On the morning of the accident, Evan Pearce was in a good mental and physical state. Testimony at trial indicated that he was not tired and was not debilitated either mentally or physically; that he felt strong and eager for the days activities. (R. at 402-403, 527-528.)

With both counsel present in chambers, counsel for plaintiff made a motion in limine as to any reference to Evan's consumption of alcohol on the night and early morning preceding the evening of the drowning. (R. at 263.) Plaintiff was not informed of the defendants' intention to introduce such testimony or the identity of the witness who would so testify until the Friday (June 4) preceding the Monday (June 7) when the trial commenced. Plaintiff's argument in support of the motion in limine was that any consumption of alcohol which may have occurred was remote in time, irrelevant, and that its sole purpose was to inflame and prejudice the jury. Additionally, it was argued that the testimony was an unfair surprise. (R. at 263-264.) The court ruled against plaintiff's motion in limine and conceded that "it may be error, Mr. Howard, but I have ruled." (R. at 264.) Counsel for the defendant admitted that neither he, nor the witness who was to testify about the drinking, knew how much alcohol was in Evan Pearce's system, if any, and that there was no way of determining it. (R. at 258.)

The defendants did introduce testimony at trial to the

effect that Evan had been involved to some degree, in drinking beer at the graduation party which had ended more than twelve hours prior to the events in question. (R. at 545, 548.) Counsel for plaintiff made a timely objection that the testimony was irrelevant, immaterial and that any probative value was outweighed by its prejudicial nature. (R. at 545.)

The plaintiff in order to rebut the prejudicial testimony, was forced to introduce evidence that the plainff's consumption of alcohol was limited and that the time of last consumption was not later than 5:30 a.m. the day of the accident. (R. at 401, 402.) This was more than thirteen hours prior to the time of the beginning of the events leading to the fatality. (R. at 336.)

The boat in question was owned jointly by the defendants. (R. at 311, 642.) Each defendant testified that he had a 50% ownership in the boat and that both defendants and their families shared in its use. Mr. Wistisen gave permission for Kevin Wistisen to take the boat on the day of the accident. (R. at 405.)

Testimony of experts at trial indicated that the following equipment is required to be kept in a boat the size of the one involved in the accident:

1. One life jacket per person of proper size so it can be worn effectively.
2. One ring buoy or throwable device.
3. Running lights on the boat.
4. An oar or paddle.
5. A horn.

These are the items, the lack of which would result in the issuance of a citation. (R. at 451-455, 459.)

Prior to leaving his house with the boat, Kevin Wistisen "cleaned up" the boat by removing equipment such as paddles and

life preservers. (R. at 407, 436.) Testimony at trial established that when the boat was on the water at the time of the emergency it did not have the following statutorily required items:

1. Paddles or oars.
2. Sufficient life jackets for the number of people aboard the boat.
3. A ring buoy or throwable device.
4. Functional lights. (Kevin Wistisen had cut off all electrical power in the boat before leaving it, and had failed to give the girls remaining on board any instructions as how to make the lights functional.)
5. It is disputed as to whether a horn was present on board.

(R. at 368-375, 343, 407, 409.)

An anchor is statutorily required when a boat is unbeachable. There was some difference of opinion on the issue of the beachability of the boat in question, with one expert indicating that in a windstorm, the boat would not be beachable on Utah Lake. This would mean that without an anchor, the boat was subject to being cited for the lack of an anchor on board. (R. at 468.) The experts who were not of the opinion that the lack of an anchor would subject the boat operator to a citation, were in agreement that it would be an "essential" piece of equipment on a boat of that size. (R. at 477, 612.) The experts also testified that a safety flare, which the boat in question did not have at the time of the accident, was "essential", although not required by statute. (R. at 609.)

In the early afternoon of July 1, 1979, Kevin Wistisen picked up Evan Pearce, Leslie Pearce, and Angela Adams who were the other participants in the activity. They proceeded to the Provo Boat Harbor and launched the boat at approximately 5:00 p.m. (R. at 406.)

The group proceeded in the boat to the west side of Utah Lake and both Evan Pearce and Leslie Pearce waterskied. (R. at 364.) The group stayed on the west side of the lake until early evening at which time they started back to the boat harbor with Evan Pearce skiing behind the boat. (R. at 365.)

By this time a wind had come up and the water had become quite choppy. Evan fell after hitting some large waves. (R. at 366.) After Evan fell, Kevin Wistisen turned the boat to the left and ran over the ski rope while making the turn to retrieve Evan Pearce from the water. (R. at 346, 366.) Expert testimony at trial established that regulations exist which require the operator of a boat to approach a fallen waterskier from the driver's side of the boat. The driver's side of the boat in question is on the right. (R. at 473.) Both Angela Adams and Leslie Pearce testified that Kevin Wistisen turned the boat to the left, not to the driver's side, to pick up Evan Pearce. This would constitute a violation of the regulation. Defendant admitted running over the rope but denied making an improper turn.

Running over the rope in this manner caused it to become entangled in the propeller and prevented the engine from operating. (R. at 366.) Kevin Wistisen raised the outdrive and attempted to untangle the rope from the propeller. (R. at 366.) He was unable to do so from inside the boat, so he lifted the engine cowl and switched off all electrical power in the boat, put on a life jacket, and without giving any instructions to the two girls as to the operation of the boat or location of any emergency equipment in the boat, he entered the water to attempt to remove

the tangled rope. (R. at 367-368.) Neither of the girls in the boat had any previous experience or instruction in the operation of a boat, nor were they adequately prepared to handle the emergency which developed. (R. at 336.)

While these events transpired Evan Pearce was still in the middle of the lake three miles from closet shore. The boat was approximately two miles from the closet shore. (R. 427.) Because of the strong wind which had developed that afternoon, the boat was being blown away from Evan. (R. at 409.) Evan tried to swim to the boat, but was impeded by the life jacket he was wearing. In an effort to get to the boat before it became completely unreachable, Evan took off his life jacket and tried to swim to the boat. (R. at 368.) Because of the rate at which the boat was being driven by the wind, Evan was unsuccessful in his attempt to reach the boat. (R. at 368.) The two girls who were still in the boat, Leslie Pearce and Angela Adams, informed Kevin Wistisen of Evan's plight. Kevin then swam back toward Evan while holding onto the ski rope that trailed out behind the boat. (R. at 369.) While Kevin was holding the end of the rope and reaching for Evan, the rope broke leaving both boys stranded in the lake. Kevin made an attempt to swim to the boat, but because of the wind he was unable to reach the boat. (R. at 370.) Kevin then swam back to where Evan was. Evan yelled to the girls in the boat asking them to throw him a life jacket. (R. at 370-371.) Because the boat was not properly equipped, in that it had only three life jackets for four people, there was only one jacket remaining in the boat. (R. at 407.) Leslie Pearce then threw



out the only remaining jacket to Evan and he was able to reach it. The jacket that was thrown out was the blue jacket that was not large enough to fit a person of Evan's size and Evan was, therefore, unable to zip it up the front even though he did put it on. (R. at 411, 426.) The jacket, therefore, was open in the front by four or five inches and supported the body only in the shoulders and the back. Because the jacket was too small and would not zip ut, it forced the user to wear it in such a precarious way that it subjected him to the possibility of slipping out of, or though it.

The boat was by now some distance from the boys in the water, and the boys were unable to communicate to the girls any instructions as to the operation of the boat. (R. at 371.) The boat at this time was in about nine to ten feet of water. (R. at 442.) The girls looked for an anchor to stop the boat from drifting. They also searched for a paddle with which to manuever the boat. (R. at 372.) No such equipment was on the boat. (R. at 372, 4-7.) The boat continued to drift until it was completely separated both visually and audibly from the boys stranded in the water. (R. at 673.)

The boys decided to swim to the west shore. (R. at 426.) Although this was the closet shore, they were still several miles out. (R. at 427.) After it became dark the boys were separated and that was the last time Evan Pearce was seen alive. (R. at 415, 427.)

Kevin Wistisen was able to reach the shore almost five hours later and phoned his home to inform his parents of the incident.



(R. at 414.) A Utah County Sheriff then came and picked Kevin Wistisen up on the west shore and took him back to the Provo Boat Harbor where his family and others were waiting. (R. at 415.)

During this same evening the families of the youngsters in the boat became worried and went to the boat harbor to investigate. The truck and boat trailer driven by Kevin Wistisen were there, it was now dark and the boat had not returned. Another boat with Wayne Pearce, Evan Pearce's father, went out to search. They found nothing and returned to the boat harbor to learn that Kevin Wistisen had been found. (R. at 495.) At this time the sheriffs department actively joined in the search. (R. at 496.) It was not until the next morning at approximately 5:00 a.m. that the boat with the two girls was found. (R. at 376, 499.) The two girls, although extremely cold and frightened, were otherwise safe when picked up by the boat from the Department of Parks and Recreation. A helicopter search that same morning resulted in the location of the two life jackets, the yellow one Evan Pearce had on when he was waterskiing, and the blue one he was thrown that did not fit and would not zip up. (R. at 499.) When the blue life jacket was found the certainty of the young man's fate became a reality for his parents and those conducting the search.

Search efforts continued throughout the week, but the remains of Evan Pearce were not found until approximately eight days later. (R. at 499.)

At the close of evidence, counsel for plaintiff made a motion for a directed verdict in regard to liability or negligence on the grounds that:

1. Defendants' negligence had been established by clear and convincing evidence, or in the alternative;
2. That defendants were negligent as a matter of law and that such negligence was the proximate cause of the death of the decedent, or in the alternative;
3. That defendants were negligent as a matter of law and that the case should be submitted to the jury on the issue of whether such negligence was the proximate cause of the death of the decedent.

(R. at 660-662.) The court denied plaintiff's motion. (R. at 670.)

Plaintiff objected to and took exceptions to the jury instructions given by the court as follows:

1. The instructions did not adequately instruct the jury as to the theory of the plaintiff's case.
2. Instruction 10 refers to life expectancy, and the court did not give the jury a life expectancy instruction.
3. Instruction number 11 is error because it refers to a reasonable discount without considering inflationary rates.
4. Instruction 12 is error because it is a double instruction in that it gives double emphasis to defendants' theory of the litigation.

(R. at 673-674.)

Plaintiff objected to the failure of the court to give his requested instruction 19 on damages. (R. at 675.) Plaintiff also objected to the failure of the court to give the requested instruction 1, regarding plaintiff's theory of the case, instruction 6, regarding the statutory liability of one who owns a boat and entrusts it to a minor; instruction 7, regarding the statutory duty of the owner of a motorboat to equip it with certain minimum safety devices; and instruction 13, regarding the presumption that the deceased was exercising due care for his safety. (R.

at 675-676.)

Plaintiff objected to the verdict form because it submitted the question of damages in a general way and not as to each of the heirs. (R. at 674-675.)

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE COURT'S FAILURE TO GIVE PLAINTIFF'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NUMBER 6 ON IMPUTED LIABILITY UNDER UTAH CODE ANN. §73-18-18 WAS ERROR.

In the present case, the only defendants were the joint owners of a motorboat which was being driven and which was under the control of the minor son of one of the defendants. Plaintiff's theory of the case was that the defendants were vicariously liable for the negligence of the minor who operated the boat with the consent of the owner. The only way that the plaintiff could successfully proceed against the defendants was on the basis of vicarious liability because the defendants themselves had no direct participation in the events which led to the fatality of Evan Pearce.

At trial, the plaintiff presented evidence as to the defendant's ownership of the boat. It was undisputed that Kevin Wistisen, at the time of the incident, was a minor and that he had possession of and was operating the boat with the express consent of one of the owners, and with the implied consent of the other owner.

In order to instruct the jury as to that theory, the plaintiff requested the following instruction:

You are instructed that the law of the State of Utah, Utan Code Ann. §73-18-18, provides



as follows:

The owner of a vessel shall be liable for any injury or damage occasioned by the negligent operation of such vessel by a minor under the age of eighteen years operating such vessel with the express or implied consent of the owner, whether under the laws of this State or by neglecting to observe such ordinary care and such operation as the rules of common law require.

Therefore, if you find that Kevin L. Wistisen was negligent in the operation of the boat, either in regard to violation of one of the laws of the State or by his failure to exercise ordinary care, caution and prudence, and that such negligence was the proximate cause of the death of Evan Pearce, then you shall find in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendants.

The trial court failed to give that instruction and the plaintiff made a timely objection to said failure.

The instructions given by the court which bear some relation to the liability of the owners of the boat are contained in Instructions Number 5 and 6. (R. at 178-180.) Instruction Number 5 states only, "the plaintiff has the burden of persuading you that the defendants Martin J. Wistisen and/or Richard Oveson and/or the boat operator Kevin Wistisen was negligent [sic]. . ." While Instruction Number 6 does indicate that the owners of a boat are required to have it equipped with necessary safety equipment, the instruction repeatedly refers to the responsibility of the operator to have that equipment and not the owners. The instruction says nothing about any liability of the owners for the negligence of the minor operator of the boat. The reference of the instruction to the duty of the owners to keep equip-

ment on the boat was ineffective in view of the facts presented at trial indicating that the minor son of the defendant Wistisen took what few safety equipment items were owned by the defendants out of the boat.

Utah Code Ann. §73-18-18 (1980), establishes the propriety of the requested instruction number 6 as a matter of law. The failure to give the instruction, was error, in that, the only impression that could be drawn by the jury was that the imputed negligence of the owners was not the law or the view of the court.

In the case of Watters v. Querry, 626 P.2d 455, 458 (Utah 1981), this court discussed the issue of the trial court's obligation to submit the theory of a party to the jury if there is evidence adduced in support thereof. In its holding, the court stated as follows:

The well-recognized general rule entitles a party to have his theory of the case submitted to the jury. Where there is evidence adduced to support a party's theory of the case, it is prejudicial error for the trial court to fail to instruct thereon.

With respect to vicarious liability, it was absolutely essential that the instruction be given, at least in substance, as requested by the plaintiff. This is so, because there were several acts of negligence by Kevin Wistisen which more directly contributed to the fatality than others. Unless the jury were to know that the owners were responsible for all acts of negligence by Kevin Wistisen, the jury might, as they did in the present case, find that any negligence of the named defendants was not a proximate cause of the fatality in question.

The principal acts of negligence by Kevin Wistisen were removing the required safety equipment from the boat prior to the excursion, causing the rope to become entangled in the propeller mechanism, and leaving the two girls in the boat completely uninstructed in the operation thereof with the power having been disconnected. These negligent acts, singly or in combination, were the proximate cause of the death of the decedent, Evan Pearce. Because there was no instruction imputing liability for these negligent acts to the named defendants, the jury was only able to consider the named defendants' independent negligence which was found not to be the proximate cause of the injuries.

Unless the Court should find that other instructions presented the plaintiff's theory in regard to vicarious liability, the holding in the Watters case requires a finding that the failure to give instruction number 6 was prejudicial error and grounds for reversal.

## POINT II

THE PLAINTIFF WAS SUBSTANTIALLY PREJUDICED BY THE ERRONEOUS ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE CONCERNING ALCOHOL CONSUMPTION BY THE DECEASED, EVAN PEARCE.

Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Evidence states the law concerning the erroneous admission of evidence:

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