1982

Wayne Pearce v. Martin J. Wistisen and Richard Oveson : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GIVE APPELLANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NUMBER SIX.

A. Legal standard for deciding whether Trial Court committed error in not giving a requested instruction:

The Utah Supreme Court in State vs. Ouzounian, 26 Utah 2d 442, 491 P.2d 1093(1971) stated the applicable standard in deciding whether error had been committed in not giving a requested instruction, as follows:

"A refusal to give an instruction cannot be the basis for reversal, unless the jury was insufficiently advised of the issue they were to determine, or it appears that they were confused or misled to the prejudice of the person complaining." 491 P.2d @ page 1095 (emphasis added)

See also In re Richard's Estate, 5 Utah 2d 106, 297 P.2d 542(1956).

Even if one were to find error had occurred in the failure to give a requested instruction, there may be no basis for refusal if the alleged error were harmless. Rule 61, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, provides:

"No error. . .is grounds for . . .disturbing a judgment, . . .unless refusal to take such action appears. . .inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceedings which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties." (emphasis added)

In Ortega v Thomas, 14 Utah 2d 296, 283 P.2d 406 (1963),
the Utah Supreme Court stated:

"It is necessary to keep in mind that it is the policy of our law that there shall be no reversal of a judgment merely because of error. This firmly established principle is reflected in Rule 61, U.R.C.P. and in our decisional law. In order to justify reversal the appellant must show error that was substantial and prejudicial in the sense there is at least a reasonable likelihood that in the absence of the error the result would have been different." 383 P.2d @ page 408 (emphasis added)

B. Failure of the Trial Court to give Appellant's requested Instruction Number Six was not error:

Appellant claims error in the Court's failure to give his requested Instruction Number Six (R. 118) upon grounds that it denied him the right to have his theory of the case (vicarious liability) considered by the jury. His claim is only meritorious if such failure insufficiently advised the jury of the issue it was to determine or confused or misled the jury to Plaintiff's prejudice.

The Court's Instruction Number Five (R. 178) clearly defined the issue for the jury to decide:

"In this case the Plaintiff has the burden of persuading you that the Defendants Martin J. Wistisen and/or Richard Oveson and/or the boat operator Kevin Wistisen was negligent and that such negligence was a proximate cause of the death of Evan Pearce."

The instruction advises the jury that the negligence

Verdict asked for a total percentage of negligence as to all three.

Appellant's Complaint that the term "vicarious liability" was not specifically defined or used in the Court's instructions is one of form only and not substance. Vicarious liability as applied in this case simply means that the negligence of the operator of the boat is added to the negligence of its owner or owners in determining the total liability of the owners. The Court's instructions as drawn and given implicitly made that addition and thus Plaintiff had his theory of vicarious liability considered by the jury though the term was not specifically defined.

It appears to Respondents that the Court's instructions were more clear and less confusing than had the Court attempted to explain the legal term of vicarious liability and then instructed the jury as to its application as requested by Appellant in his requested Instruction Number Six.

As stated in Walters v Querry, 626 P.2d 455 (Utah 1981):

"Nevertheless, the Court cannot be said to have failed to properly instruct the jury when requested instructions are fully covered in other instructions given." 626 P.2d @ pages 458, 459

C. Even if the Trial Court committed error in not giving Appellant's requested Instruction Number Six, it was harmless and does not constitute ground for reversal:

The jury specifically found Martin J. Wistisen and Richard Oveson, the owner of the boat, and Kevin Wistisen, its operator, negligent at the time of the occurrence. Therefore, Appellant received the finding of negligence which he sought notwithstanding his allegation of error. Again, as stated in Walters v Query, 626 P.2d 455 (Utah 1981);

"These instructions relate specifically to the negligent character of Defendants conduct. The jury specifically found in Plaintiff's favor on this issue. The dismissal was based on causation alone, and therefore, no flaw in the Court's instruction relating to negligence can inure to Plaintiff's benefit." 626 P.2d @ page 459 (emphasis added)

In the instant case, the matter was also decided on the issue of causation and thus Appellant's claim is not grounds for reversal.

POINT II

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GIVE APPELLANT'S REQUESTD INSTRUCTION NUMBER THIRTEEN CONCERNING THE PRESUMPTION THAT A DECEASED WOULD EXERCISE DUE CARE FOR HIS OWN SAFETY.

Respondents have no argument with the general rule of law that man's natural instinct for self-preservation gives rise to a presumption that one will normally avoid harm to himself which otherwise could cause death. However, Respondents disagree with Appellants concerning its application in the instant case.

A. Legal standard for giving instruction concerning the presumption:

In Mecham v Allen, 1 Utah 2d 79, 262 P.2d 285 (1953), the Utah Supreme Court analyzed the effect of the presumption and its application, as follows:

"A presumption deals with a rule of law which requires the trier of the facts to assume the existence of one fact or set of facts (herein called the presumed facts) from the establishment of another fact or set of facts (herein called the basic facts). Unless the basic facts are conclusively shown to exist, that question, if material, should be submitted to the jury. The existence of the basic facts may or may not have a logically tendency to prove the presumed facts, also they may have some such logical tendency but be insufficient standing alone to justify an inference on that question. From the basic fact that a human being was accidentally killed a presumption arises which requires the trier of the facts to assume the presumed facts, that decedent used due care for his own safety, in the absence of a prima facia showing to the contrary, but in this kind of a presumption upon the making of such showing the presumption disappears from and becomes wholly inoperative in the case, and the trial from then on should proceed exactly the same as through no presumption ever existed or had any effect on the case.

Such a presumption deals only with the burden of going forward with or the production of evidence. The question of whether a prima facia case has been made is the same here as in all other cases a question for the court and not for the jury to determine. It is established whenever sufficient evidence is produced from which its existence could be reasonably found. It is immaterial which party produces such evidence. If the court concludes that a prima facia case has been made, it should submit the question of the existence of the presumed facts to the jury on the evidence without commenting on or mentioning to them that there was or is such a

presumption. If the court concludes that no prima facia showing of the nonexistence of the presumed facts has been made he should direct the jury to assume the existence of the presumed facts, or if such facts are determinative of the whole case he should direct a verdict in accordance therewith. Such is the effect of this kind of a presumption....." (emphasis added) 262 P.2d @ 290

See also DeMille v Erickson, 23 Utah 2d 278, 462 P.2d 159, 161 (1969).

The instruction on the presumption should only be given when evidence has not been adduced during the trial establishing a prima facia case negating the presumed fact. A prima facia case

" . . . is established whenever sufficient evidence is produced from which its existence (conclusion negating the presumed facts) could be reasonably found." 262 P.2d @ 290

B. There was sufficient evidence adduced during the trial establishing a prima facia case that Evan Pearce was contributorily negligent thus negating the presumed fact that he used due care.

The record clearly shows that evidence was adduced during trial establishing that Evan Pearce:

1. Had slept very little during the approximate thirty-six (36) hours prior to his death (R. 543-550);
2. Was pushing himself physically by water skiing beyond reason (R. 344-345,365);
3. Refused to stop skiing when requested to do so by Kevin Wistisen, the operator of the boat, notwithstanding the windy conditions (R. 417);

4. Continued to ski though he was fatigued (R. 421-423);
5. Removed his life preserver and started swimming toward the boat leaving the jacket and skis abandoned in the lake (R. 348-351,115,424);
6. Failed to adjust the replacement life preserver to properly fit his body (R. 411); and
7. After the boys were stranded, left Kevin Wistisen behind during the swim to the West shore (R. 426-427).

It is abundantly clear that one could reasonably conclude that Evan Pearce contributed to his own demise thus negating the presumed fact that he used due care. Consequently, the Trial Court properly denied Appellant's requested Instruction Number Six.

POINT III

THE COURT DID NOT ERR REGARDING ITS INSTRUCTIONS CONCERNING THE REQUIREMENT OF AN ANCHOR ABOARD THE BOAT.

A. Utah statutory law does not require that all boats be equipt with an anchor.

Appellant contends that there is a statutory requirement that the boat in question was required to have an anchor aboard at the time of the incident. He is in error on this point.

UCA §73-18-8 (1980) provides:

"All vessels except those capable of being safely beached shall be equipped with an anchor and line of sufficient weight and length to securely anchor such vessel. (emphasis added)

See also 4 Utah Admin. R. §A60-01-3(3)(b)(12)(1975).

Whether a vessel is required to have an anchor aboard depends upon its capability of being safely beached. The safe beachability of a boat is a question of fact, not of law. Evidence was adduced on both sides of the issue at trial.

(R. 468, 569)

For Appellant to argue that the boat in question was statutorily required to have an anchor aboard presupposes that Appellant's evidence was the only reasonable conclusion to be drawn regarding its beachability irrespective of Respondents' evidence to the contrary. Such a supposition is without merit.

B. The Court properly instructed the jury as to Respondents' duty concerning the proper equipment required to be on board the subject boat.

At trial, Appellant claimed Defendants were negligent in two particulars:

FIRST, because they allegedly violated codified statutory and administrative law in failing to have the proper equipment on board, to wit: improper number of approved life preservers; no oar or paddle; no horn or whistle; no bail bucket; improper lightning; no throwable device; and

SECOND, because they allegedly violated non-codified safety standards promulgated by boating experts and recommended by the Utah Parks and Recreation Department, to wit: no anchor (unless boat incapable of safe beaching); no boat hook; no

compass; no distress signals; no flashlight; no first aid kit; no heaving line; no spare oars; no ring buoy; etc. (See Appendix A-1 of Appellants' brief for a complete list of such equipment.)

The first allegation of negligence if proven would yield a finding of negligence on Defendants part as a matter of law, while the second allegation, if proven, could only yield a finding of negligence if the trier of fact concluded that the alleged misconduct violated the reasonable man standard.

The Courts Instruction Number Six (R. 179), circumscribes both allegations. The first paragraph of the instruction defines the reasonable man standard (Appellant's second claim for negligence) as follows:

"It is the duty of owners and operators of boats, such as the one here involved, to have that boat equipped with all safety appliances and devices that a reasonable prudent person conversant with boating and water skiing would have for the protection of the life and safety of users of the boat, including a water skier, anticipating possible foreseeable emergencies. A violation of such duty may be the basis for a determination that the person or persons thus violating the duty was negligent."

The second and succeeding paragraphs define the codified laws and regulations of Utah regarding boating as follows:

"Under the laws and regulations of this State, an operator of a boat, such as that involved herein, is required to have aboard the vessel and readily available;

1. One coastguard approved life preserver buoyant vest or special purpose water safety buoyant device for each person aboard and of the appropriate size for the person wearing it or for whom it was intended, plus at least one coastguard approved buoyant cushion, ring life

buoy, or equivalent, which is immediately available as a throwable device.

2. At least one oar or paddle capable of being used to maneuver such motorboat when necessary.

3. One horn or whistle which may be operated either by mouth, by hand, or by power and shall be audible for at least on half mile.

4. An adequate bail bucket or hand operated bilge pump.

5. While under way, and between sunset and sunrise, a thirty two point white light aft, and visible for two miles all around, a combination bow light showing red to port (left) and green to starboard (right) which shall be visible for one mile from dead ahead to two point abaft the beam.

6. An operator of a boat, such as the one here involved, shall require each person who is surfing or being towed on water skies or similar device to wear a proper fitting coastguard approved floatation device.

7. An operator of a boat, such as the one here involved, shall not allow swimming from an unanchored vessel, unless there is at least one person left aboard who is capable of operating it properly.

A violation of any of these laws and regulations would be negligence as a matter of law."

In both cases, Appellant's theories of negligence were given to the jury in the Court's Instruction Number Six.

Appellant complains that his requested Instruction Number Eight was not given. However, to have done so would have been redundant in light of the Court's Instruction Number Six. Moreover, it would have called more attention to the recommended safety standards embodied therein (which were already before the

jury as Plaintiff's Exhibit Number Seven) than other evidence relevant to the reasonable man standard.

There was no error in the Courts refusal to give Appellant's requested Instruction Number Eight.

C. Even if it were error not to give Appellant's requested Instruction Number Eight, it was not prejudicial and thus is not grounds for reversal.

The Special Verdict found Respondents (including Kevin Wistisen, the operator of the boat) negligent (R. 193). Consequently, the failure of the Court in giving Appellant's requested Instruction Number Eight cannot now be said to have prejudiced Appellant because the jury's finding on negligence, as to Respondents, was in Appellant's favor.

Therefore, if error did indeed exist in not giving the instruction, under Rule 61, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, it is harmless error and not grounds for reversal.

POINT IV

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING
TESTIMONY THAT THE DECEDENT CONSUMED
ALCOHOL DURING THE NIGHT AND MORNING
PRECEDING HIS DEATH.

Respondants defended Appellant's claim of wrongful death at trial in part, upon the ground that Evan Pearce was contributorily negligent due to his physical exhaustion caused by his own conduct during the approximate thirty-six (36) hours prior

to his death (R. 259). Consequently, evidence was adduced concerning the fact that he had essentially been without sleep for the entire period (R. 546,657); had consumed alcohol during the middle twelve hours thereof (R. 547-549, 656); was intent upon celebrating his high school graduation during the entire period (R. 528) and water skied when he was overly tired (R. 353, 421, 425, 574); all of which contributed to a deteriorated physical condition which proximately caused the circumstances resulting in his death.

Appellant claims that the evidence admitted concerning alcohol consumption caught him by surprise, was irrelevant, remote in time, prejudicial and thus was reversible error. (Appellant's Brief, Page 15)

Rule 4, Utah Rules of Evidence states the standard for the alleged erroneous admission of evidence:

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